FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/17/2021 4:38 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/20/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. <u>10049</u>3-1 COA NO. 80915-6-I

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

TVI, INC., d/b/a VALUE VILLAGE,

Respondent.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOHN A. NELSON, WSBA#45724 SHIDON B. AFLATOONI, WSBA#52135 SEANN COLGAN, WSBA#38769 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7744 Assistant Attorneys General Attorneys for the State of Washington

###

### I. INTRODUCTION

The King County Superior Court found that for over a decade, the for-profit company TVI, Inc., d/b/a Value Village (TVI), repeatedly and consistently violated the CPA by creating the deceptive net impression among Washington consumers that (1) TVI was itself a charity or nonprofit (it is neither), (2) purchases made at its stores benefitted charity (they do not), and (3) all donations made at its stores in Spokane benefitted the Rypien Foundation (they did not). In its detailed, 85-page order, the trial court found that the State proved that TVI actually *knew* that its marketing deceived consumers.

Despite the magnitude of the deception found at trial, on appeal, the Court of Appeals dismissed the case in its entirety when it determined that the trial court erred by applying a "knew or should have known" mens rea standard to the CPA. The Court of Appeals never reached the ultimate issue of whether the mens rea standard imposed by the trial court survives exacting scrutiny under the First Amendment. The Court of Appeals' ruling

misunderstood that courts may require additional proof to satisfy constitutional concerns, as TVI itself had asked the trial court to do below. Moreover, the Court of Appeals was incorrect in holding that all of TVI's marketing was inextricably intertwined with protected speech and deserving of constitutional protection.

This Court may accept review if there is a significant question of law under the Constitution or if there is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). The State requests review on both of these grounds. In the context of an action brought by the State under the CPA where protected charitable speech is implicated, it is an issue of first impression whether a "knew or should have known" mens rea standard passes constitutional muster. This case also presents an issue of significant public importance that directly impacts the State's ability to police deceptive charitable speech under the CPA. The State requests this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' ruling, which currently encourages fraudsters to envelop their scam with a

of placing themselves further out of reach of prosecution for unfair and deceptive practices. The deleterious effects of the Court of Appeals' ruling have already been felt in other misrepresentation cases. This Court should grant review.

### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the Attorney General of the State of Washington ("State" or "Attorney General").

### III. DECISION BELOW

The Attorney General seeks review of the decision issued by Division One of the Court of Appeals on August 16, 2021. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at A-1 through 19. The Court of Appeals denied the Attorney General's timely motion for reconsideration on November 17, 2021. A-20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Washington League for Increased Transparency & Ethics v. Fox News, No. 81512-1-I, 2021 WL 3910574, at 4 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 30, 2021) ("This court held that the trial court 'erred in rewriting the law to include a "knew or should have known" mens rea element [in an effort] to avoid constitutional infirmity."").

### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether a court may properly overlay constitutional protections onto the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86, in actions brought by the State targeting deceptive charitable speech?
- 2. Whether TVI's commercial speech (marketing and advertising) is inextricably intertwined with any protected charitable speech, and thus, subject to exacting scrutiny under the Constitution?
- 3. Whether, in cases brought under the CPA that target protected charitable speech, a "knew or should have known" mens rea satisfies exacting scrutiny?

### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

TVI is a Washington-based, for-profit company that owns and operates over 300 thrift stores globally, including several Value Village stores in Washington. CP 1074; A-2. TVI purchases most of its inventory from non-profit, charitable entities that collect or accept donations of used goods from the

public. CP 1074-1077, *see also* A-2. In this regard, TVI's relationship with these charities is solely transactional. TVI makes no donations to charities nor does it pay any portion of the proceeds from sales in its stores to charities or nonprofits. CP 1078; A-2.

In 2017, the State sued TVI under the CPA for, among other claims, unfairly and deceptively creating the net impression that TVI is a charity or non-profit organization and that purchases at TVI's retail stores benefit charities when they do not. CP 1090-91.

# A. The Trial Court Applied a Mens Rea Standard to the CPA to Address TVI's First Amendment Concerns Before Trial.

Before trial, TVI filed a motion requesting "the Court [to] address the parties' positions concerning the applicability of First Amendment principles in this case and decide the standards that govern the case." CP 912-916. TVI argued that the State should prove the elements of fraud in order to hold TVI liable under the CPA for unfair or deceptive speech that touched on

charitable solicitation. CP 914. The State contended that the State need only prove TVI's speech had a capacity to deceive to satisfy the CPA and the constitutional issues raised and need not prove intent to deceive or actual deception. CP 1011.

The trial court issued an order imposing a heightened standard on the State's burden of proof, ruling that "[i]n the context of charitable contributions, the statute must include a meaningful mens rea requirement," and "[t]he CPA ... can be read in a way that a mens rea requirement is unnecessary." RP 140. The trial court summarized its conclusion regarding the applicable legal standard as follows:

This court finds that ... the First Amendment requirements of speech related to charitable solicitations requires the State, in cases involving charitable fundraising, to prove that the defendant engaged in practices or acts that they *knew or should have known* would be deceptive or misleading, or at least have a deceptive net impression. Inclusive of this knowledge or should have known mens rea requirement satisfies the Madigan analysis, satisfies the First Amendment, and the Court will require it....

I will find that *knowledge* or should have *known*, *knows* or should have *known*, will be part of the analysis for the Court in deciding whether or not the State has proved its case...

So I'm including a *knowing or should have known element*, and, from my perspective, with that, it satisfies the First Amendment.

RP 141-42 (emphasis added), *see also* CP 1010-1014 (written order on October 2, 2019, memorializing oral ruling).

For purposes of the First Amendment, the trial court treated all of TVI's advertising and marketing as charitable speech, although it "questioned... whether under the causes of action, particularly the first two... whether TVI falls within the charitable solicitation exception..." RP 141-42.

As a result of the trial court's pretrial ruling creating a heightened mens rea standard under the CPA, the State was required to try its case under the presumption that TVI's commercial speech was inextricably intertwined with protected charitable speech and also prove that TVI violated the CPA with respect to all of its advertising and marketing.

# B. The Trial Court Found that the State Had Proved TVI's Advertising and Marketing Had the Capacity to Deceive and that TVI Actually Knew That Consumers were Deceived.

Following a bifurcated trial on liability (the trial on remedies has not occurred), the trial court issued oral findings, CP 1247-1303, followed by a detailed, 85-page written findings and conclusions that the State prevailed on its primary claims – that TVI's advertising and marketing created the deceptive net impression that TVI, itself, is a non-profit entity and that in-store purchases benefit charities – as well as the State's claim that TVI's advertising and marketing created the deceptive net impression that TVI paid the Rypien Foundation for donations in 2014 and 2015. CP 1143-47, 1149-50; *see also* A-5 through 6.

For purposes of determining liability, the court cited evidence of deceptive advertising starting in 2009 and continuing through 2019. CP 1096-1119, 1143 (trial court noting that "[p]articularly prior to 2016-2017, TVI's advertising and marketing was focused on promoting its relationship with charities," and therefore was deceptive).

The trial court found that the State proved that TVI *knew* its advertising and marketing was deceptive in masking its forprofit status, including the following evidence:

- A consumer complaint to the AGO, which was provided to TVI in 2013, stating: "My problem is perception. The impression any donor or customer receives is that Value Village is a nonprofit giving most of their profits to xyz charities," and TVI's response that it was aware some customers believe all thrift stores are nonprofits. CP 1098, 1145;
- Market research commissioned by TVI, which reported that "some shoppers and donors felt that Savers<sup>[2]</sup> itself is a non-profit," and that consumers believed TVI "donate[s] to the community," and "give[s] ... to the community," as well as testimony from TVI's CEO stating he personally reviewed the research, CP 1121, 1145;
- Additional testimony by TVI's CEO stating that customers sometimes ask why sales tax is applied to their purchases, because they mistakenly believe Value Village is a non-profit, CP 1122-23, 1145;
- Another market research study commissioned by TVI, which found that TVI's advertising was confusing and invited questions about "whether or not [Value

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> TVI operates stores in states outside Washington under the "Savers" brand name. CP 1164. It employs the same advertising and marketing under both brand names. CP 1189.

- Village] is for-profit or non-profit," also reviewed by TVI's CEO, CP 1122, 1145; and,
- A request for proposal issued to advertising agencies by TVI, in which it advised bidders that "[t]here is confusion surrounding the brand" and that some consumers "feel that Savers is itself a non-profit," CP 1122-23, 1145.

The trial court thus concluded "that [TVI] should have known its advertising and marketing had the capacity to deceive consumers, in addition to the actual knowledge of consumer deception provided by its research studies." CP 1145 (emphasis added).

The trial court cited and discussed the same evidence of actual knowledge in connection with TVI's advertising and marketing regarding in-store purchases, finding that the market studies in particular "indicat[ed] consumer misperception about in-store purchases." CP 1147. Concerning TVI's advertising and marketing related to the Rypien Foundation, the court found that TVI "knew what the contract [with Rypien] said," and "knew what they were telling customers," which was "inconsistent and deceptive." CP 1150.

The trial court also concluded that TVI's depictions of its business model were themselves deceptive and, even where clear disclosures were made, they were insufficient to dispel the deceptive net impression left by its advertising: "any disclosures of its for-profit status made during this time period were not sufficiently prominent to dispel the deceptive net impression caused by its advertising and marketing." CP 1144.

# C. On the Basis of Intertwined Charitable Speech and the Fact that the CPA Does Not Refer to a Mens Rea Standard, the Court of Appeals Dismissed the CPA Claim Against TVI.

After the State prevailed at trial in the liability phase, TVI filed a notice of discretionary review. CP 1157-58. The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review and later issued a published opinion reversing the trial court's ruling and remanding to dismiss the State's CPA claims. A-1 through 19.

The Court of Appeals held that TVI's marketing amounts to commercial speech:

[TVI's] signs, banners, and in-store announcements induce customers to donate goods at its stores, which TVI then sells for profit. The marketing also

encourages shoppers to buy goods in its stores so TVI can generate greater profits. While the signs and announcements do not refer to particular products, they are advertisements communicated by a for-profit corporation with economic motivation.

A-9.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals held that certain of TVI's marketing, such as those that "display the names and logos of [TVI's] charity partners<sup>[3]</sup>" amounts to charitable speech because "[t]hese communications at least implicitly advocate for the views, ideas, goals, causes, and values of TVI's charitable partners." A-11.

The Court of Appeals held that TVI's commercial speech and non-commercial speech were inextricably intertwined and analyzed the trial court's ruling under a strict scrutiny standard.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> TVI's advertising consistently referred to the charities from which it purchased inventory as its "partners." CP 1075. Partnership, however, implies a sharing of profits and liabilities. In fact, as the trial court found, TVI's own marketing research showed that referring to its "non-profit partners" resulted in "consumer misperception" about the relationship between TVI and charities. CP 1147.

A-13. In reversing the trial court's ruling, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court erred not because it selected the wrong standard for exacting scrutiny, but because it lacked authority to "rewrite" the CPA; in other words, that the imposition of *any* mens rea element by the trial court was error because no such standard appears in the text of the Act itself. A-18 through 19. Thus, the Court of Appeals never reached the issue of whether the "knew or should have known" mens rea requirement imposed by the trial court passes constitutional muster.

The State filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court of Appeal's ruling, which the appellate court denied. A-20.

### VI. ARGUMENT

A. Because the Trial Court Properly Applied Constitutional Protections to the Charitable Speech at Issue, the Court of Appeals Erred in Relying on This Court's Opinion in *City v. Willis* to Dismiss the State's Case.

The Court of Appeals relied almost exclusively on this Court's opinion in *City v. Willis*, 186 Wn.2d 210, 375 P.3d 1056 (2016), a case that was not cited by either party at the trial court

or the Court of Appeals, to hold that the trial court's imposition of a mens rea required a "rewrite" of the CPA, and thus, violated separation of powers. A-18 through 19. But in holding that the CPA required a rewrite, the Court of Appeals misunderstood the application of the CPA to charitable speech. As all parties here acknowledge, the CPA statute does not require a mens rea. In a vacuum, then, TVI has violated the CPA if its statements had the capacity to deceive, without regard to whether it knew, should have known, or intended its statements to be deceptive. It is only because TVI raised a free speech defense that the trial court, in order to comply with constitutional protections for charitable speech, required that the State prove that TVI knew or should have known its statements were deceptive. CP 1010-1014. Thus, it is not statutory language that requires the State to show that TVI knew or should have known its statements were deceptive, but constitutional requirements that are an overlay to any action that targets speech. Indeed, it was TVI, bringing an as-applied challenge to the CPA, who filed a motion requesting "the Court [to] address the parties' positions concerning the applicability of First Amendment principles in this case and decide the standards that govern the case." CP 912-916.4

This is similar to what courts routinely do in adding heightened requirements to common law claims for defamation brought by public officials in order to satisfy constitutional free speech and free press concerns. *E.g.*, *New York Times v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 84 S. Ct. 710, 11 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1964); *cf. Fields v. Dep't of Early Learning*, 193 Wn.2d 36, 434 P.3d 999 (2019) (addressing as-applied challenge to regulation prohibiting those with a criminal conviction from working as a child care provider by requiring individualized assessment of challenger's qualifications, despite regulation's prohibition).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In concluding its motion, TVI requested "that, before trial, the Court address and decide the First Amendment standards applicable in this case and determine which, if any, of the State's claims may proceed to trial under the governing standards." CP 916.

Here, rather than examine the statutory requirements of a CPA claim, the Court of Appeals should have analyzed TVI's asapplied challenge -i.e., that as applied to TVI's charitable speech, the CPA violated free speech unless a higher standard of proof was met by the State, which would satisfy exacting scrutiny. TVI asserts that the State must meet the elements of fraud to satisfy free speech concerns, and it urged the trial court to impose that burden on the State. CP 912-916. The State disagrees because precedent<sup>5</sup> instead establishes that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See, e.g., Nat'l Taxpayers Union v. U.S. Soc. Sec. Admin., 302 Fed. Appx. 115, 118 (3d Cir. 2008) (citing Vill. of Schaumburg v. Citizens for a Better Env't, 444 U.S. 620, 100 S. Ct. 826, 63 L. Ed. 2d 73 (1980) ("Section 1140 requires only that charities refrain from using deceptive language when soliciting. Therefore, Section 1140 is constitutional as-applied because it serves a strong, subordinating interest.") (internal quotations omitted)); United States v. Corporations for Character, L.C., 116 F. Supp. 3d 1258 (D. Utah 2015) (holding that the FTC need not prove fraud to limit charitable speech, but only show that the limitation (1) "serves a sufficiently strong, subordinating interest that the [government] is entitled to protect" and (2) is "narrowly drawn ... to serve those interests without unnecessarily interfering with First Amendment freedoms." Id. at 1267 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

standard met by the State here – that TVI *knew* its statements were deceptive – satisfied free speech concerns. Until the Court of Appeals misapplied the *Willis* opinion to this case, the issue on appeal was disagreement over the proper standard, not whether the trial court could impose *any* additional standard.

The *Willis* opinion, on which the Court of Appeals relied for its holding that the CPA could not apply to charitable speech, does not suggest the contrary. First, unlike here, *Willis* involved a facial, overbreadth challenge, which by its nature does not allow for individualized accommodation to the alleged constitutional concern. Willis, 186 Wn.2d at 219 (rejecting

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even on its own terms, the Court of Appeals' application of *Willis* to this case was incorrect, as the State primarily argued in its motion for reconsideration. Unlike the proposed interpretation of the ordinance at issue in *Willis*, imputing a mens rea on a CPA action is not inconsistent with the statute but merely adds a constitutionally required protection for charitable speech.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Willis* also brought an as applied challenge to the ordinance, but this Court overturned the ordinance based upon the facial challenge before it. *Willis*, 186 Wn.2d at 226.

Court of Appeals' reliance on the individual facts of the case because it "conflicts with controlling authority on how to address facial First Amendment challenges."). Second, imposing a mens rea on the State's CPA action required no "rewrite" of the statute that would be inconsistent with the statutory language. Whereas the holding in *Willis* rested in large part on the Court's reluctance to change the ordinance's language that prohibited speech "at" a freeway ramp to speech "in" a freeway ramp, here, the trial court made no change to the existing CPA. Rather, the trial court merely placed an overlay of constitutional protection—specific to the case before it—to account for protected speech.

The Court of Appeals erred in rejecting the trial court's actions in ensuring that the CPA was applied in this case with due regard to the constitutional protections afforded charitable speech. The Court should grant review because the error involves both significant constitutional questions and issues of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

B. The State's Petition for Review Presents an Issue of First Impression Involving the Significant First Amendment Implications of a State CPA Enforcement Action Against a For-Profit Company Misrepresenting Charitable Interests.

This petition involves an issue of first impression in Washington: how is the State able to enforce the CPA in instances of deceptive marketing involving charities by a forprofit company? As noted above, during nearly seven years of investigation and litigation with extensive motions practice, neither TVI nor the State raised any issue below, or on appeal, concerning the trial court's authority to impose a mens rea standard on the State, and the propriety of its doing so. Indeed, TVI requested that the trial court do so, and the trial court's ruling imposing a mens rea element on the State's burden of proof was entered in response to TVI's motion. Put differently, the parties' dispute concerns what standard the trial court should impose—i.e., what standard satisfies the First Amendment—not whether the trial court was within its authority to impose a standard at all.

While the Court of Appeals held that "the CPA as applied TVI's inextricably intertwined commercial and to noncommercial speech does not meet the exacting proof requirements necessary to give protected speech sufficient breathing room under the First Amendment," it did not answer the issue of first impression before it—whether the knew or should have known standard applied by the trial court constituted exacting proof. A-19. Thus, the parties (and by extension, all Washington residents) are left without clarity on the ultimate question, and instead, are left with uncertainty. Without review by this Court, the significant question of what standard applies will remain unsettled.

C. The State's Petition for Review Presents a Significant Question of Law under the Constitution: under US Supreme Court and Federal Court of Appeals Precedent, Whether TVI's Unprotected Commercial Speech (Marketing and Advertising) is Inextricably

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