FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2022 9:58 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/18/2022 3:59 PM

Supreme Court No. 100493-1 Court of Appeals No. 80915-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

TVI, INC. d/b/a VALUE VILLAGE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

James C. Grant, WSBA #14358 Ross Siler, WSBA #46486

DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP

Attorneys for TVI, Inc. 920 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104-1610 Telephone: (206) 622-3150 Fax: (206) 757-7700

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Applied Established First Amendment Law.

The State's central argument urging review seems to be that the Court of Appeals erred because it decided the case solely as a matter of statutory construction (*i.e.*, that it "lacked authority to rewrite the CPA") and "never reached the ultimate issue" of whether the superior court's ruling imposing liability "survives exacting scrutiny under the First Amendment." Pet. at 1; *see also id.* at 13 (contending the Court of Appeals reversed because "no [*mens rea*] standard appears in the text of the [CPA] itself"). The State's argument is perplexing, because the Court of Appeals' opinion is based on bedrock principles of First Amendment law and plainly held that the State's CPA claims and the superior court's imposition of liability violated First Amendment principles.

The Court of Appeals recognized, first, that "[c]haritable solicitation is fully protected speech under the First Amendment." A1 at 816 (citing *Schaumburg*, 444 U.S. at 632-33; *Munson*, 467 U.S. at 959-60; *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 787-88). The Court observed that if the State seeks to regulate or punish charitable solicitation it must satisfy strict constitutional scrutiny. *Id.* (citing *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 790). This means the State bears the burden to "prove a compelling interest that is *both* narrowly tailored and necessary to achieve the State's asserted interest"—a "'well-nigh insurmountable burden.'" *Id.* (quoting *State ex rel. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n v. 119 Vote No!*

Comm., 135 Wn.2d 618, 628 (1998)) (emphasis in original; internal quotation omitted).

The Court of Appeals concluded that TVI's signs, brochures, and banners featuring its charity partners and promoting donations is charitable solicitation that helps "advocate for the views, ideas, goals, causes, and values of [the charities]." *Id.* at 817-18 (discussing *Nat'l Fed. of the Blind of Tex., Inc. v. Abbott*, 647 F.3d 202, 212 (5th Cir. 2011) (display of charities' names on donation bins is charitable solicitation)).

The Court of Appeals relied on *Madigan* and its holdings that "false statements alone" cannot be the basis for liability; the state had to show "that the fundraiser made a 'false statement of material fact" and that the statement was made "with the intent to mislead the listener, and succeeded in doing so." A1 at 821 (quoting *Madigan*, 538 U.S. at 620)). Examining the State's claims and the superior court's rulings, the Court held that they "lack[ed] the exacting proof requirements 'critical to First Amendment concerns'" and thus failed to "give 'sufficient breathing room for protected speech." *Id.* at 822 (quoting *Madigan*, 538 U.S. at 617, 620).

In its Petition, the State claims "[t]he Court of Appeals relied almost exclusively on ... *City v. Willis*, 186 Wn.2d 210 ... (2016) ... to hold that the trial court's imposition of a mens rea [sic] required a 'rewrite' of the CPA, and thus, violated separation of powers." Pet. at 13. This is a patent misreading.

The Court of Appeals devoted ten pages of its opinion to analyzing the State's claims and the superior court's rulings based on First Amendment doctrine and precedents and then noted *Willis* in closing as additional support for the proposition that it is inappropriate for a court to "rewrite a ... law to conform it to constitutional requirements." A1 at 824 (quoting *Willis*, 186 Wn.2d at 219-20, and *United States v. Stevens*, 559 U.S. 460, 481 (2010)); *see Clark v. Martinez*, 543 U.S. 371, 382 (2005) (the law does not allow reinterpreting a statute whenever constitutional flaws are apparent, as that "would render every statute a chameleon, its meaning subject to change depending on the presence or absence of constitutional concerns in each individual case.").

The Court of Appeals' ruling is based on established First Amendment precedents according full protection for speech related to charitable solicitation, *i.e.*, *Schaumburg*, 444 U.S. at 620; Munson, 467 U.S. at 947; Riley, 487 U.S. at 781; Madigan, 538 U.S. at 600; United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709, 729 (2012); *Abbott*, 647 F.3d at 202. The Court of Appeals cited these cases and discussed their holdings 35 times. The State's Petition ignores all of this law and the Court of Appeals' analysis of the law. And, while the State tries to make out that the Court of Appeals "did not answer the issue" of whether the superior court's "should have known" standard constituted exacting proof, Pet. at 20 (emphasis in original), the Court could not have been more clear in rejecting the State's arguments that the superior court's "knew or should have known" standard supposedly "passes constitutional muster."" A1 at 824 (saying, "We disagree.").

Contrary to the State's assertion, the Court of Appeals' decision does not raise a "significant question of law under the Constitution." Pet. at 2, *id.* at 19.⁶ The Court's decision is consistent with—and dictated by—over 40 years of U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Throughout this litigation, the State has maintained that First Amendment requirements do not cabin its CPA claims against TVI and that the State could instead establish liability with no proof of any false statement, knowing or actual deception, or harm. *See* CP 729-31, 924-25.

⁶ The State claims that neither party "raised any issue below, or on appeal, concerning the trial court's authority to impose a mens rea standard on the State," saying: "Indeed, TVI requested that the trial court do so" Pet. at 19 (emphasis in original). The State knows better. TVI has asserted throughout this litigation that the State's claims must be dismissed because they fail First Amendment requirements. See CP 277-81 (summary judgment motion); CP 1018-32 (CR 41(b) motion); TVI v. State, No. 79223-7-I (Nov. 26, 2018) (TVI's first motion for discretionary review); TVI v. State, No. 80915-6-I (Oct. 30, 2020) (TVI opening brief on discretionary review); A1 at 809, 824 (Court of Appeals decision recognizing TVI's motions to dismiss and granting dismissal of State's claims). TVI never asked the superior court to make up a new standard for the State's CPA claims and has never conceded the court had authority to do so.

This is contrary to fundamental First Amendment principles and the extensive case law,⁷ as the Court of Appeals correctly held. The Court of Appeals' opinion applies long-settled law.

B. First Amendment Law is Clear That Charitable Solicitation Is Fully Protected Speech.

In similar disregard of established First Amendment law, the State asserts this Court should take review to consider whether TVI's signs, brochures, and other materials featuring its charity partners and promoting donations to the charities constitute charitable solicitation. Pet. at 21-22 (claiming the

⁷ Numerous cases have followed the U.S. Supreme Court precedent. *See, e.g., United States v. Lyons*, 472 F.3d 1055, 1065-66 (9th Cir. 2007) ("*Madigan* underscores that the state faces a high burden to demonstrate fraud, including the burden to prove that a defendant made knowing misrepresentations with the intent to defraud."); *United States v. Alvarez*, 617 F.3d 1198, 1212 (9th Cir. 2010) (*Madigan* limits a government claim to "a properly tailored fraud action" in which "there must be proof the false statement was (1) knowing and intended to mislead, (2) material, and (3) did mislead."), *aff'd*, 567 U.S. 709 (2012); *Urzua v. Nat'l Veterans Servs. Fund, Inc.*, 2014 WL 12160751, at *3-4 (S.D. Cal. Jan. 28, 2014); *Linc-Drop, Inc. v. City of Lincoln*, 996 F. Supp. 2d 845, 857 (D. Neb. 2014). The State does not mention these cases either.

Court of Appeals failed to conduct "meaningful fact inquiries" about whether "TVI's advertising was inextricably intertwined with protected speech").

In fact, the Court of Appeals fully considered, addressed, and rejected the State's arguments. The Court held that TVI's signs and ads featuring its charity partners and promoting donations to them *are* charitable solicitation that provides "substantial benefit" to the charities and "advocates [their] causes." A1 at 817 (quoting *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 798, and *Schaumburg*, 444 U.S. at 632). The Court recognized the obvious: The State "aim[ed] its lawsuit squarely at TVI's intertwined speech" promoting its charity partners and thus directly targeted charitable solicitation, "fully protected speech under the First Amendment." A1 at 816, 819.

Here too, the Court of Appeals followed well-established precedent of the U.S. Supreme Court and other courts. In *Schaumburg, Munson*, and *Riley*, the Supreme Court held that speech related to charitable solicitation *is fully protected* and courts may not parse representations to apply lesser scrutiny to one part or another. *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 796 ("This is the teaching of *Schaumburg* and *Munson*, in which we refused to separate the component parts of charitable solicitations from the fully protected whole. ... Therefore, we apply our test for fully protected expression."). Scores of cases have followed the Supreme Court's direction that charitable solicitation cannot be treated as commercial speech but is instead subject to strict scrutiny. *See, e.g., Blitch v. City of Slidell*, 260 F. Supp. 3d 656, 663-64 (E.D. La. 2017); *Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind of Colo., Inc. v. Norton*, 981 F. Supp. 1371, 1373 (D. Colo. 1997).⁸ The issue is not open to debate.⁹

⁸ Again, word limitations preclude a full discussion or citation of even a fraction of the case law rejecting the State's argument. *See* A5 at 5-7 & n.1 (reply brief on discretionary review).

⁹ Here again, the State offers no authorities except for ones rejected by the Court of Appeals: *Board of Trustees of State Univ. of New York v. Fox*, 492 U.S. 469 (1989), and *Hunt v. City of Los Angeles*, 638 F.3d 703 (9th Cir. 2011). *See* Pet. at 24; A1 at 818-19. These cases did not concern charitable solicitation, but rather Tupperware parties in college dorms (*Fox*) and sidewalk vendors selling incense and shea butter (*Hunt*).

In its Petition, the State provides a depiction of a bag once used in Value Village stores, claiming it exemplifies that "much if not the vast majority of TVI's advertising and other commercial speech is standalone" and unrelated to its business model and promotion of charity partners. Pet. at 22-23. Shrunk down to 1/8th of its actual size, the State asserts that the inclusion of the tag line "Good deeds. Great deals." has no connection to charitable solicitation. But the State disregards (and obscures) what the bag actually states:

Use this bag to donate reusable clothing and household items. Value Village pays local nonprofits every time you donate. Thank you.

Ex. 602.¹⁰

¹⁰ Moreover, contrary to the State's assertion now that there should have been "standalone" review of each sign and ad, in

Notably, in *Fox* the Supreme Court reiterated that speech relating to charitable solicitation by commercial fundraisers is fully protected, even if it may also advance commercial purposes because the speech is "inextricably intertwined." 492 U.S. at 474. The Supreme Court did not detract from its holdings according full protection to charitable solicitation speech but merely held that speech at Tupperware parties should not be treated the same.

This case presents no "significant constitutional issues" about whether TVI's marketing promoting and soliciting donations to its charity partners is fully protected speech subject to exacting scrutiny. This law has been settled for decades.

C. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Does Not "Eviscerate" State Authority to Regulate Charitable Solicitation or Prevent Fraud.

Finally, the State asserts this Court should take review because the Court of Appeals' opinion "eviscerates" the "authority of the Attorney General to bring a CPA enforcement action [regarding] charitable solicitation or commercial fundraising" to pursue "fraudsters." Pet. at 2, 25. This is another rehash of an argument the State advanced and the Court of Appeals rejected. A6 at 4, 13-18.

The State has ample authority to oversee charitable solicitation and commercial fundraisers. Although the State

the superior court the State said the opposite, urging that "no one piece of marketing should be reviewed in isolation" given the "deceptive net impression" standard of the CPA. RP 249; RP 253. Again the State offers shifting theories to try to avoid First Amendment scrutiny.

makes no mention of it, the CSA is Washington's primary statute for regulating charities and fundraisers. To the extent the Attorney General's Office seeks to ensure that consumers "are fully informed when making purchasing and donating decisions," Pet. at 25, that is exactly what the CSA does, as the Court of Appeals recognized: "The CSA provides Washington consumers with information relating to any entity that solicits funds from the public for charitable purposes to prevent deceptive practices and improper use of contributions intended for charitable purposes," and the Act's aim is "to improve the transparency and accountability of charitable solicitors." A1 at 812 n.3 (citing RCW 19.09.010(1) & (2)). Moreover, the U.S. Supreme Court has observed that statutes like the CSA requiring registration and financial disclosures to state authorities (which can then be made available to the public) are the appropriate means to regulate charitable fundraisers within First Amendment limits. See Schaumburg, 444 U.S. at 637-38 & n.12; *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 800.

27

It is undisputed that TVI fully complied with the CSA, CP 1152-53 (superior court's finding that "there can be no question" that TVI acted to "ensure that they were compliant with [the CSA]"), including by making disclosures in scores of signs, brochures, and other materials that it is a "for-profit commercial fundraiser" for charities, CP 1090, 1124-25. It is difficult to see how the Attorney General's Office can claim that state powers to ensure proper disclosures are "eviscerated" in this case when it is undisputed TVI complied with all CSA disclosure requirements.

Similarly, nothing in the Court of Appeals' decision challenges the State's authority to pursue a "properly tailored fraud action," as explained in *Madigan* and reiterated by the Court of Appeals. *See Madigan*, 538 U.S. at 619-20; *Riley*, 487 U.S. at 795; A1 at 820; *Alvarez*, 617 F.3d at 1212. Nothing prevents the Attorney General from bringing an action against a sham charity or other "fraudsters," to use the State's term. The Court of Appeals' decision merely restates what has been

28

established law for decades—such claims must comply with constitutional requirements. There is no issue of substantial public importance warranting review in requiring the Attorney General to comply with settled constitutional law.

IV. CONCLUSION

TVI respectfully requests that the Court deny the State's request to take review of this case.

This document contains 4,998 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.